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)


vs.
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)

BNSF RAILWAY COMPANY,
)




)
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)

DECISION 


BNSF Railway Company (“BNSF”) did not violate the Missouri Highways and Transportation Commission’s (“MHTC”) regulations pertaining to (1) prompt telephonic reporting of personal injuries of which the railroad has knowledge and (2) storage of railroad rolling stock.  
Procedure


The MHTC filed the complaint on August 17, 2006.  The MHTC filed a first amended complaint on January 31, 2007.  On March 22, 2007, we issued an order granting BNSF’s motion to dismiss Counts VI and VII of the first amended complaint.  

This Commission convened a hearing on the first amended complaint on March 30, 2007.  David E. Woodside, Senior Assistant Counsel, represented the MHTC.  Paul E. Littleton, with Brasher Law Firm, L.C., represented BNSF.  The MHTC filed the last written argument on August 6, 2007.  
Findings of Fact


1.  BNSF is a railroad company that is engaged in business in the state of Missouri.  
Count I:  March 9, 2005

2.  On March 9, 2005, at 13:50,
 a BNSF train struck a vehicle that was stopped on the railroad crossing at Mineral Road in Webster County, Missouri.  


3.  At 14:05, a dispatcher notified BNSF’s Network Operations Center in Fort Worth, Texas, that the accident had occurred.  The dispatcher reported:  “No injuries and no track damage.”
  At 15:50, the Network Operations Center received an update from the train master:       

Two individuals in the pickup with no appartent [sic] injuries.  They were taken to the hospital to be checked out.  Lead locomotive BNSF 2262 sustained damage to grab irons, pin lifter, and one ditch light
Pickup had stopped on tracks and attempted to back up prior to impact.  Condr reported incident had occurred at 1350-CT.[
] 

BNSF prepared an incident report containing the dispatcher’s report and the train master’s update.  The incident report form had a column to indicate whether the State had been notified of the incident, and this was completed:  “No  Not reportable.”
   

4.  BNSF filed a highway-rail grade crossing accident/incident report with the Federal Railroad Administration (“FRA”), indicating that the driver of the vehicle was injured.  The report was dated April 30, 2005, and BNSF sent a copy of the report to the Missouri Department of Transportation (“MoDOT”).  MoDOT received it on May 2, 2005, 38 working days after the accident.  BNSF did not notify MoDOT of the incident until it filed this monthly report.  


5.  The Missouri State Highway Patrol (“Highway Patrol”) files copies of uniform accident reports monthly with MoDOT.  The Highway Patrol prepared a Missouri uniform 
accident report for the March 9, 2005, incident, stating “Number Injured 2.”
  The report coded the injuries as “Evident-Not Disabling,”
 and noted that the vehicle occupants were transported by EMS for medical treatment.  The report stated: 

Both Driver 1 and his passenger received minor injuries.  Both were transported by ambulance to Cox South Hospital, Springfield, Missouri, for treatment of injuries received in the crash.[
] 

Count II:  September 2, 2005

6.  On September 2, 2005, at 2:45, a vehicle ran into a BNSF train that was stopped at a crossing on County Road 1100 in Barry County, Missouri.  


7.  At 2:55, BNSF’s Network Operations Center was notified of the accident.  At 3:02, the road foreman reported that there was damage of $200 to the railcar, and “No injuries, driver refused medical help.”
  BNSF prepared an incident report containing the chief dispatcher’s report and the road foreman’s update.  The incident report form indicated that the State had not been notified of the incident.  The form was completed:  “No  Not required.”
  


8.  BNSF filed a highway-rail grade crossing accident/incident report with the FRA, erroneously indicating that the driver of the vehicle was injured.  The report was dated 
October 31, 2005, and BNSF sent a copy of the report to MoDOT.  MoDOT received it on or about November 1, 2005, 42 working days after the accident.  BNSF did not notify MoDOT of the incident until it filed this monthly report.  


9.  The Highway Patrol prepared a Missouri uniform accident report for the September 2, 2005, incident, stating “Number Injured 0.”
  The Highway Patrol reported a code for “Injury-None Apparent”
 and that the vehicle occupant was not transported for medical treatment. 
Count III:  September 19, 2005

10.  On September 19, 2005, at 20:10, a driver failed to stop at a crossing on Route A in Pemiscot County, Missouri, and struck a moving rail car on a BNSF train.  

11.  According to the Highway Patrol’s Missouri uniform accident report, the train engineer stated that he was not aware of the accident until his dispatch office contacted him, and that he then stopped near Hayti, approximately 10 miles south of the collision site.  The Highway Patrol’s report stated that the driver of the vehicle was transported to the hospital by Air Evac helicopter ambulance.  A BNSF signal safety representative checked the crossing lamp condition at 22:15 and found that all lamps worked properly.  He also activated the crossing from north of the intersection at 22:40, and found that all lamps worked properly.  

12.  The driver of the vehicle died on September 26, 2005, as a result of injuries sustained in the accident.  


13.  MoDOT learned of the accident on September 28, 2005, seven working days after the accident, by searching MissouriNet.  BNSF has never notified MoDOT of the accident.  
Count IV:  March 14, 2006

14.  At 8:11 p.m. on March 14, 2006, MoDOT inspectors conducted an inspection at the railroad crossing on Gray Street in Chaffee, Missouri.  Two tracks cross the road at that crossing – a main track and a siding.
  The inspectors found that a BNSF freight train was stopped on the siding.  The train was not occupied, but the engine was running.  One of the inspectors measured 
154 feet from the near edge of the crossing to the front of the engine.  Chaffee is a crew change point for BNSF, and the inspectors assumed that a crew change was taking place.  The new crew arrived, and the train left at approximately 9:00 p.m.  
Conclusions of Law

Jurisdiction

BNSF does not question our jurisdiction under the Missouri statutes, but argues that the federal Surface Transportation Board has exclusive jurisdiction over railroad transportation in interstate and intrastate commerce.
  We must apply the Missouri statutes as written,
 and we do not have the authority to declare them invalid.
  The Missouri statutes grant enforcement authority to the MHTC and confer an adjudicatory function upon this Commission.  


Section 622.090
 provides: 

The jurisdiction, supervision, powers and duties of the motor carrier and railroad safety division herein created and established shall extend under this chapter:  
(1) To all railroads within this state, and to all transportation of persons or property thereon, and to the person or corporation owning, leasing, operating or controlling the same, and to every person, corporation and entity that offers for transportation by railroad within this state hazardous or toxic materials as defined under the laws of this state or of the United States; 
*   *   *

(4) To such portion of the lines of any other railroad . . . as lie within this state, and to the person, corporation or entity owning, leasing, operating or controlling the same, so far as concerns the construction, maintenance, equipment, terminal facilities and local transportation facilities and local transportation of persons or property within this state; 
(5) To all . . . railroad corporations . . . doing business within this state; 
(6) To all persons, corporations or partnerships engaged in the transportation of property or freight within the state; and
(7) To all corporations and persons whatsoever subject to the provisions of chapters 387, 388, 389, 390, and 391, RSMo, and this chapter. 

Section 622.320.1 provides: 

Complaint may be made by the division of its own motion, or by any corporation or person, chamber of commerce, board of trade, or any civic, commercial, mercantile, traffic, agricultural or manufacturing association or organization, or any body politic or municipal corporation, by petition or complaint in writing, setting forth any act or thing done or omitted to be done by any carrier, corporation or person, including any rule, regulation or charge established or fixed by or for any carrier, corporation or person in violation, or claimed to be in violation, of any provision of law, or of any rule or order or decision of the division.  

Section 389.005, RSMo Supp. 2006, provides: 

Except as otherwise provided in this section and sections 104.805, 226.008, 389.610, and 621.040, RSMo, all the powers, duties and functions of the division of motor carrier and railroad safety relating to rail transportation activities, including all rules and orders, as provided in this chapter and chapters 388, 391 and 622, RSMo, are hereby transferred to the department of transportation, which is in the charge of the highways and transportation commission, by type I transfer as set forth in the Omnibus State Reorganization Act of 1974.  Except as otherwise provided, all personnel of the division of motor carrier and railroad safety are transferred to the department of transportation by section 226.008, except that the administrative law judge is transferred by section 226.008, RSMo, to the administrative hearing commission.  

Section 621.040, RSMo Supp. 2006, provides in part: 

The administrative hearing commission shall have jurisdiction to conduct hearings, make findings of fact and conclusions of law, and issue orders in all applicable cases relating to motor carrier and railroad regulation transferred to the highways and transportation commission pursuant to this section and sections 104.805, 226.008, 389.005, and 389.610, RSMo, except that, notwithstanding any 
provision of law to the contrary, the highways and transportation commission may issue final agency orders without involvement of the administrative hearing commission in relation to: 
(1) Uncontested motor carrier cases, and other uncontested motor carrier matters, or in which all parties have waived a hearing in writing; and
(2) Approval of settlement agreements or issuance of consent orders in motor carrier or railroad enforcement cases, if all parties have consented in writing to the issuance of the commissioner’s order.  

The MHTC asserts that BNSF has violated state regulations and a statute.  The MHTC seeks authorization to file suit in circuit court to collect penalties against BNSF for the violations.  Section 389.998 provides: 


1.  Any corporation or person who violates or fails to comply with any provisions of this chapter is subject to a civil penalty or forfeiture of not less than one hundred dollars nor more than two thousand dollars for each offense.  An action to recover a penalty or forfeiture under this chapter or to enforce the powers of the division under this chapter may be brought in any circuit court in this state in the name of the state of Missouri and shall be commenced and prosecuted to final judgment by the general counsel of the division. . . . 

2.  Every violation of the provisions of this or any other law or of any order, decision, decree, rule, direction, demand or requirement of the division, or any part or portion thereof, by any corporation or person is a separate and distinct offense, and in case of a continuing violation of each day’s continuance thereof shall be and be deemed to be a separate and distinct offense.  


Because we perform the adjudicatory functions of the former Division of Transportation, we conclude that we have jurisdiction over this case.
   

Burden of Proof

Section 622.350, RSMo Supp. 2006, provides: 
In all trials, actions, suits and proceedings arising under the provisions of this chapter or growing out of the exercise of the authority and powers granted in this chapter to the state highways and transportation commission, the burden of proof shall be upon state highways and transportation commission.  The state highways and transportation commission shall show by clear and satisfactory evidence that the determination, requirement, direction or order of the state highways and transportation commission is reasonable or lawful as the case may be. 

“Clear and satisfactory evidence” is the same as “clear and convincing evidence.”
  Clear and convincing evidence “instantly tilts the scale in the affirmative when weighed against the evidence in opposition, and the fact finder's mind is left with an abiding conviction that the evidence is true.”
 
Preemption and Constitutional Argument

Section 389.996 provides in part: 

Every railroad corporation and street railroad corporation is hereby required to give immediate notice to the division of every accident happening upon any line of railroad or street railroad owned, operated, controlled or leased by it, within this state in such manner as the division may direct. . . . 

In Counts I, II, and III, the MHTC asserts that BNSF violated Regulation 4 CSR 265-8.010(1)(B), which  provides: 

(1) Every railroad and street railroad corporation engaged in business in this state is ordered to give notice to this division of railroad accidents as set forth in this rule. 
*   *   *

(B) The division will be furnished with prompt telephone notice during regular working hours for the following accidents:  
1.  All grade crossing accidents which involve railroad rolling equipment that result in a personal injury of which the railroad has knowledge[.]

BNSF argues that the notice requirements set forth in this regulation and in the statute are preempted by federal law.  Once again, we must apply the Missouri statutes as written,
 and we do not have the authority to declare them invalid.
  Regulations have the force and effect of law,
 and this Commission must apply regulations unless they are contrary to a statute.
  

 49 U.S.C. § 20106 allows the State to adopt or continue in force an additional or more stringent law, regulation, or order related to railroad safety or security when the law, regulation, or order is not incompatible with a law, regulation, or order of the United States Government.  49 CFR 
§ 225.9 requires telephonic notification of injuries to the FRA only when there is “serious injury to two or more train crewmembers or passengers requiring their admission to the hospital.”  The State’s requirement of prompt telephone notice when any personal injury has occurred is an additional requirement that is compatible with the federal requirements.  


BNSF also contends that the enforcement of Regulation 4 CSR 265-8.010(1)(B) violates the Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution, Art. I, § 8, because it constitutes an unreasonable burden on interstate commerce.  Once again, we note that regulations have the force and effect of law,
 and we must apply regulations unless they are contrary to a statute.
  We do not have the authority to address constitutional challenges.

Count I:  March 9, 2005

The MHTC argues that BNSF violated Regulation 4 CSR 265-8.010(1)(B) by failing to give prompt telephonic notice of injuries of which it had knowledge after the accident that occurred on March 9, 2005.  

BNSF argues that it was not aware of any injuries.  Two hours after the accident, the train master reported to BNSF’s Network Operation Center that the individuals in the pickup had “no appartent [sic] injuries,” but “were taken to the hospital to be checked out.” 
  The MHTC argues that: 

Although the motorists did not display any apparent injury, the fact that that [sic] BNSF knew they were “taken to the hospital to be checked out” is sufficient knowledge of a persona [sic] injury to impose on BNSF the duty under MHTC’s rule, to provide prompt telephonic notice of the accident to MoDOT.[
]

We do not agree that the fact that the individuals were “taken to the hospital to be checked out” imposes a duty on BNSF to promptly report the accident to MoDOT by telephone.  Regulation 4 CSR 265-8.010(1)(B) imposes that duty only when there were personal injuries of which the railroad had knowledge.  

 
The Highway Patrol made a report stating that the driver and passenger received “minor injuries”
 and were transported by ambulance for treatment.  This does not show knowledge on the part of BNSF.  The MHTC must show by “clear and convincing evidence” that BNSF violated the regulation.  

Although BNSF’s highway-rail grade crossing accident/incident report was completed to show that the driver was injured, the record does not show why the form was completed in that manner when BNSF’s incident report showed that there were no injuries apparent at the time of 
the accident.  As BNSF notes, the incident report was a contemporaneous report that is the best evidence of what BNSF knew at the time of the accident, and it reflects that there were “no appartent [sic] injuries.”  BNSF’s incident report indicates that BNSF did not believe that the accident was reportable to the State when the accident occurred.  We conclude that the MHTC has failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that there was a personal injury of which BNSF had knowledge and which thus required prompt telephone notice to MoDOT.  
Count II:  September 2, 2005

As to the accident on September 2, 2005, the MHTC again argues that BNSF violated Regulation 4 CSR 265-8.010(1)(B).  BNSF’s incident report and the Highway Patrol’s Missouri uniform accident report were consistent in stating that no injuries had occurred.  Although BNSF’s highway-rail grade crossing accident/incident report stated that the driver was injured, we found as a fact that this was erroneous because it is inconsistent with both the incident report and the Highway Patrol report.  Because the MHTC has failed to show by clear and convincing evidence that any personal injury occurred, BNSF had no duty to give prompt telephone notice.  BNSF did not violate the regulation. 
Count III:  September 19, 2005

The MHTC argues that BNSF violated Regulation 4 CSR 265-8.010(1)(B) as to the accident that occurred on September 19, 2005.  The accident occurred on September 19, 2005, and the driver of the vehicle died on September 26, 2005, from injuries sustained in the accident.  BNSF did not provide any notice of the accident to MoDOT.  MoDOT learned of the accident by searching MissouriNet.  

The MHTC argues that the circumstantial evidence shows that BNSF was aware that personal injuries occurred.  The MHTC alleges that a highway patrolman interviewed the train 
engineer and conductor “at the accident scene.”
  Though the Highway Patrol’s report quotes the engineer and the conductor, it does not state where they were when the patrolman talked to them.  The report notes that the train stopped approximately 10 miles south of the collision.  

The MHTC also argues:

Although the train stopped some distance from the grade crossing, it is reasonable to infer that these BNSF employees noticed the arrival and departure of the air ambulance at the crash site, that they had knowledge that the motorist was injured, and therefore, that BNSF had such knowledge.[
]

We do not find it reasonable to infer that the railroad employees saw the air ambulance from 10 miles away.  The MHTC has presented no evidence of any knowledge on BNSF’s part that personal injuries occurred in this accident.  The Highway Patrol’s report shows that the engineer was not aware of the accident until the dispatch office contacted him regarding the accident, and he stopped approximately 10 miles away.  The Highway Patrol report also shows that a BNSF signal safety representative checked the lamps after the accident and found that they were working properly.  We cannot leap from this to a conclusion that BNSF found out, during the course of the Highway Patrol investigation or BNSF’s own investigation, that injuries occurred.  The MHTC has not met its burden to show by clear and convincing evidence that BNSF knew that personal injuries occurred in this accident.  

In written argument, the MHTC also asserts that BNSF violated Regulation 4 CSR 265-8.010(2)(B), which requires monthly written reports to MoDOT of all accidents that have been reported to the FRA.  However, the MHTC did not allege this conduct or a violation of this portion of the regulation in its first amended complaint.  We cannot find a violation on the basis of conduct that is not set forth and law that is not cited in the complaint.

Count IV:  March 14, 2006


Section 389.610, RSMo Supp. 2006, provides: 

3.  The state highways and transportation commission shall make and enforce reasonable rules and regulations pertaining to the construction and maintenance of all public grade crossings. . . . 
4.  The state highways and transportation commission shall have the exclusive power to determine and prescribe the manner, including the particular point of crossing, and the terms of installation, operation, maintenance, apportionment of expenses, use and warning devices of each crossing of a public road, street or highway by a railroad or street railroad[.]

The MHTC asserts that BNSF violated Regulation 4 CSR 265-8.030(2), which provides: 
Railroads operating within Missouri are required to maintain certain minimum distances from the near edge railroad crossings to railroad rolling stock stored on sidings.  Stored rolling stock as used in this rule shall be defined as rolling stock not used for the pickup or delivery of freight and whose placement on a railroad-owned siding by a railroad is for the sole convenience of the railroad.  The minimum distance for the storage of railroad rolling stock shall be two hundred fifty feet (250’) unless the division shall find a lesser or greater distance is required at a particular location and shall permit or order a railroad to maintain the lesser or greater distance.  If physical conditions require the use of a track temporarily or minimum distances cannot be obtained, then the provisions of this section shall not apply to—

(A) Cars placed for loading or unloading or awaiting removal after loading or unloading; and

(B) Bad order cars set out from trains. 

The MHTC asserts that a BNSF train was stored less than 250 feet from the crossing on 
March 14, 2006.  However, the MHTC has not established that the train was “stored.”  It was merely parked there temporarily for a crew change.  The regulation defines “stored rolling stock” as “rolling stock not used for the pickup or delivery of freight and whose placement on a railroad-owned siding by a railroad is for the sole convenience of the railroad.”    


The MHTC attempted to put on some evidence as to the use of the train:  

Q:  At the time you observed the train at the Gray Street crossing, were the train cars being used for the pickup or delivery of freight?
A:  No.  We had came to the conclusion that Chaffee, Missouri is a crew change point for the BNSF Railroad.  At this particular time we assumed that there was a crew change taking place.[
]  

We take this testimony to mean that the train was not being loaded with freight or being unloaded at that time, not that the train was not a freight train; the train was stopped for a crew change at that time.  Because the train was left stopped and unattended, we presume that the train was carrying freight rather than passengers.  One of the inspectors, Cory Hogg, was unsure what type of freight the train was carrying:  

Q:  Do you know what type of train it was, what kind of freight it was moving?  Coal train or anything? 
A:  No, I do not.[
]

Hogg further testified that he had no conversation with the new crew that arrived.
  


Stored rolling stock is rolling stock that is not used for the pickup or delivery of freight.  The MHTC failed to meet its burden to show by clear and convincing evidence that the rolling stock was not used for the pickup or delivery of freight.  Therefore, the MHTC failed to show that the train was stored, and the MHTC failed to establish a violation of the regulation.  

Count V

The MHTC voluntarily dismissed Count V at the hearing.
    
Summary


The MHTC has failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that BNSF violated the MHTC’s regulations.  

SO ORDERED on November 16, 2007.



________________________________



JOHN J. KOPP  



Commissioner
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